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1. Name of Property

historic name Downtown Concord Historic District

other names/site number ___ N/A _

2. Location

parts of N.Main, S.Main, N,State, S.State, Dixon Ave., Depot St., Low Ave,,
street & number Hills Ave., Storrs St,, Odd Fellows Ave., School St., N/A&J not for publication
Capitol St., Park St., Pleasant St., Warren St.

city or town ___Concord N/ 40 vicinity

state New Hampshire code _NH _ county _ Merrimack code _013 2zip code 03301

3. State/Federal Agency Certification

![ As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended, | hereby cenrtify that this B nomination

| (] request for determination of eligibility mests the documentation standards for registering properties in the National Register of
| Historic Flaces a::d rneets the procedural and professional requirements set ferth in 36 CFR Part 60. In my opinion, the property
B8 meets [} coes not meet the National Register criteria. | recommend that this property be considered significant

L] nationaily O statewide W locally. (D See continuation sheet for additional comments.)

My 6. Ducton 4/27/00

Signature of centifying official/Title Date

NEW HAMPSHIRE
State of Federal agency and bureau

In my opinicn, the property (] meets [ does not meet the National Register criteria. (D See continuation sheet fcr additional
comments.)

Signature of cznifying official/Title Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

/

4. Natignal Park Service Certification

I hereby certify that the propenrty is:

entered in the National Register.
[ See continuation sheet.

[ determined eiigible for the
National Register

[J See continuation sheet.

) determined not eligitle for the
National Register.

[J removed from the National
Register.

O other, (explain:)

L\/'-‘;
Datz of Actio
yi / U
e
lz




Downtown Concord Historic District
Name of Property

Merrimack County, New Hampshire
County and State

5. Classification

Ownership of Property Category of Property
(Check as many boxes as apply) (Check only one box)
®l private O building(s)
&l public-local &l district
[J public-State O site
O public-Federal [J structure
. [ object

Name of related multiple property listing
(Enter ‘N/A" if property is not part of a multiple property listing.)

N/A

Number of Resources within Property
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count.)

Contributing - Noncontributing
80 27 buildings
0 20 sites
1 structures
2 ' 2 objects
82 20 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed
in the National Register

4

6. Function or Use

Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE/TRADE

GOVERNMENT/fire station

Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions)

COMMERCE/TRADE
RECREATION/sports facility

GOVERNMENT/police station RELIGION
RECREATION/theater LANDSCAPE/plaza
SOCIAL/meeting hall
RELIGION/church
DOMESTIC/single dwelling
7. Description
Architectural Classification Materials
(Enter categories from instructions) (Fnter categories from instructions)
see attached foundation STONE
walls BRICK
GRANTTE
roof TAR
other N/A

Narrative Description

(Describe the historic and current condition of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)



Downtown Concord Historic Discrict
Name of Propernty

Merrimack County, New Hampshire
County and State

8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark “'x" in one or more boxes for the crileria quaiifying the propeity
for National Register listing.)

(¥ A Properiy is associated with events that have made
a significant contribution to the broad patterns of
our history.

[J B Property is associated with the lives of persons
significant in our past.

[ C Property embodies the distinctive characteristics
of a type, period, or methoad of ccnstruction or
represents the work of a master, or possesses
high artistic vaiues, or represents a significant and
distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

[(J D Propenrty has yielded, or is likely to yieid,
information important in prehistory or history.

Criteria Considerations
(Mark “x"" in all the boxes that apply.)

Propenrty is:

] A owned by a religious institution or used for
religious purposes.

J B removed from its original Iocaiion.

(0 C a birthplace or grave.

O D a cemetery.

[ E a reconstructed building, object, or structure.
[J F a commemorative property.

[0 G less than 50 years of age or achieved significance
within the past 50 years.

Narrative Statement of Significance

(Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.)

"Arzas of Significance

(Emtar categories from instructions)

COMMUNITY PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT

ARCHITECTURE

Period of Significance
C.1800-1949

Significant Dates
N/A

Significant Person
(Complete if Criterion B is marked above)

N/A

Cultural Aﬂiliation

”N/A

Architect/Builder

see continuation sheet

9. Major Bibliographical References

Bibilography

(Cite the books, articles, and other sources used in preparing this form on one or more continuation sheets.)

Previous documentation on file (NPS):

[ preliminary determination of individual listing (36
CFR 67) has been requested

O previously listed in the National Register

[J previously determined eligible by the National
Register _

[J designated a National Historic Landmark

[J recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey
#

(] recorded by Historic American Engineering
Record #

Primary location of additional data:

[0 State Historic Preservation Office
J Other State agency
[ Federal agency
[J Local government
[J University
[J Other
Name of repository:
Concord Public Library

New Hampshire Historical Society



Downtown Concord Historic District

Name of Property

Merrimack County, New Hampshire

County and State

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of Property _<tpprOX. 25 acre§

UTM References
(Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet.)

1119 12193191310 lai71816 8 16.10 |
Zone Easting ‘Northing
2[119 i2|914 0@101r[417 8 16 21610!

Verbal Boundary Description

(Describe the bcundaries of the property on a continuation sheet.)

Boundary Justification

(Explain why the boundaries were selected on a centinuation sheet.)

L9 RPB3PRP| kyBERDD
Zone Easting Northing
slL8 | RpPB3b2P| LyBEERD

See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

namelftitle

organization

Lisa Mausolf, Preservation Consultant for the

Concord Heritage Commission

street & number

city or town

20 Terrace Park

telephone

Reading

date September 1999

(781) 942-2173

MA Zip code

01867

Additional Documentation

Submit the following items with the completed form:

Continuation Sheets

Maps

A USGS map (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property’s location.

A Sketch map for historic districts and properties having large acreage or numerous resources.

Photographs

Additional items
(Check with the SHPO or FPO for any additional items)

Representative black and white photographs of the property.

Property Owner

(Complete this item at the request of SHPO or FPO.)

name

See

continuation sheet

street & number

city or town

telephone

zip code

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic Places to nominate
properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response to this request is required to obtain
a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C. 470 et seq.).

Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 18.1 hours per response including time for reviewing
instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding this burden estimate or any aspect
of this form to the Chief, Administrative Services Division, National Park Service, P.O. Box 37127, Washington, DC 20013-7127; and the Office of
Management and Budget, Paperwork Reductions Projects (1024-0018), Washington, DC 20503.
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Architectural Ciassification (continued):

EARLY REPUBLIC: Federal

MID-19th CENTURY: Greek Revival

LATE VICTORIAN: Gothic

ILATE VICTORIAN: Italianate

LATE VICTORIAN: Second Empire

LATE VICTORIAN: Qucen Anne

LATE VICTORIAN: Stick/Eastlake

LATE 19th and 20th CENTURY REVIVALS: Colonial Revival
LATE 19th and 20th CENTURY REVIVALS: Classica! Revival
LATE 19th and 20th CENTURY REVIVALS: Late Gothic Revival
LATE 19th and 20th CENTURY AMERICAN MOVEMENTS: Commercial Style
MODERN MOVEMENT: Modeme



N7S Forn 1C-900-a oM ~
063 G Apiroval No. 1024-0018

YUnited States Department of the interior
"National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Downtewn Concord Historic District
Concord (Mcrrimack County)
Sectionnumber _2___ 'Page —2 New Hampshire

The Downtewn Cencord Historic District is comprised of that section of Main Street and nearby
cross streets along which the city’s commercial district developed in the 19th century. Main Street
is a wide anc level thoroughfare that extends in a north-south dircction, roughly parallel to the
Mernimack River which lies about a quarter of a milc to the cast. Various streets enter the section
of Main Street included in the proposed disirict. Pleasant Street ncar the southern end of the
district is the dividing line between North and South Main Streets and North and South State
Streets. Other streets extending cast of Main Street include Loudon Road, Depot Strect, Freight
Strect, Hills Avenuc as well as alleys such as Phenix Avenuc, Low Avenue and Dixon Avenue.
Intersccting with Main Street from the west are Centre Street, Park Street, Capitol Street, School
Strect, Warren Street and Plcasant Street. State Strect extends in a north-south orientation a block
west of Main Street while Storrs Street is located a block to the east. Odd Fellows Avenue is now
a pedestrian way extending from Warren Street to Pleasant Street, west of North Main Street.

The district is bounded on the north by Loudon Road/Centre Strect, on the east by Storrs Strect
and on the south by Hills Avenue. The westem boundary of the district is more varied and
attempts to distinguish between the downtown’s commercial/institutional core and the residential
arcas to the west. The western boundary line for the district includes the rear lot lines for those
propertics on South Main Street north of Hills Avenue, extending along the rear lot line of the
properties on the south side of Pleasant Street between South Main Street and South State Street
and then cxtends along the rear lot line of the properties on the west side of North State Street as
far north as Capitol Street.

The buildings in the district are generally three to four stories in height with commercial storcfronts
on the first floor and a combination of offices, apartments and meeting halls on the upper floors.

At least five buildings in the district were reduced in height in the 1960s, either due to fire damage
or a desire to modernize. Red brick construction dominates but many of the buildings have granite,
sandstone or terra cotta trimmings and there is rich panorama of decorative detailing. Several
buildings including the New Hampshire Savings Bank at 97 N. Main Street (#88); the First Church
Christ Scientist (#107), the Stone Warehouse in Eagle Square (#10) and the Bank at 27 North
State Street (#108) are notable for their extensive use of New Hampshire granite. Examples of
wood-frame construction are limited to a handful of buildings on the side streets which were
initially residential in use and were later adapted for commercial purposes.

The Downtown Concord Historic District illustrates a range of styles of the nincteenth and early
twentieth centuries and includes examples of the Federal, Greck Revival, Second Empire, Gothic
Revival, Stick Style/Eastlake, Queen Anne, Romanesque, Colonial Revival, Classical Revival and
Modeme.
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Although the vast majority of the buildings in the district are commercial in nature, the district
includes many other uses as well. East of Main Street there are the remains of warehouses and
stables which were ideally located between the railroad yards which once stood to the east and the
commercial district. There are also three churches within the proposed district as well as
clubhouses, theaters, public buildings, houses, apartment buildings, public spaces and objects, both
historic and of recent design.

Four structures within the proposed district have been individually listed on the National Register:
the Eagle Hotel at 110 N. Main Street (#7; listed 9/20/78); the Endicott Hotel at 1-3 S. Main Strect
(#39; 5/29/87), the New Hampshire Savings Bank at 97 N. Main Street (#88; 6/14/88); and the
Upham Walker House at 18 Park Street (#94; 5/15/80).

There are relatively few intrusions in the area and in most cases, alterations to buildings in the
district have been minimal. The upper stories of the buildings retain much of their original
character although changes to storefronts are more widespread. Within the district there are
nineteen (19) buildings that are non-contributing due to their recent date of construction and eight
(8) buildings which are considered non-contributing due to degree of alteration. Not including the
four buildings which have already been individually listed on the National Register, there are 80
buildings which are considered contributing to the district. The district also includes one
noncontributing structure, 2 contributing objects and 2 noncontributing objects. There are also 20
noncontributing sites including eighteen vacant lots (mostly serving as paved parking lots) as well
as two pedestrian plazas created in 1976 and 1983.

A description of the individual properties which comprise the district follows, beginning at the
northeast end of the district and continuing southward along the east side of Main Street including
the structures on side streets to the east of Main Street to the southern terminus of the district,
continuing northward along the west side of Main Street, including structures on Pleasant, Warren,
School and Capitol Streets. This is followed by descriptions of properties along Park Street and
North State Street. Building/site numbers are keyed to the attached sketch map.
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1. Dow Building, 6 Dixon Avenue, 1883. Contributing building.

This 2 1/2-story, gablefront brick building was constructed in 18832 fronting what was then known
as Free Bridge Road. The utilitarian brick structure measures 3 x 12 bays and the original
windows have becn replaced by modern metal 6/6 sash. There arc simpic brick lintels and stone
sills. Centered on the north elevation is a modem raised brick stcop with a glazed vestibule. The
gable roof displays projccting eaves, is sheathed in asphalt shingles and is punctuated by several

skylights.

This is one of four brick buildings constructed by Samuel H. Dow of Wamer in 1882-3 or an acre
of land behind thc Eagle Hotel, bounded on the north by the Free Bridge Road (now Loudon Road)
and on the cast by the railroad tracks. Today only two of the buildings (6 Dixon Ave. and 8-14
Dixon Ave.) are still extant. The underpinning for the buildings was taken from the Old Prison
wall and in total approximately 700,000 bricks were used. The mason work was done by
Richardson & Farmcr and the carpenter work by Lorenzo Dow, under the direction of Charles S.
Piper.

The property was later sold by Samuel Dow to Armenia White. In 1893 the Salvation Army Hall
was located on the second floor while the remainder of the building served as a sash, door and blind
warehouse. By 1899 this building was being used by the Rumford Printing Co. There was a
bindery and electrotype room on the first floor, a job room on the second and printing in the
basement. In 1906 a machine shop was located here and a plumbing shop and tin shop shared
space in the building in 1914. Orr & Rolfe Co., plumbers and electricians, were located here in the
1930s and the William Fitt & Son Saw Co. occupied the building in the 1940s. In the 1950s and
1960s Workshop Cards utilized the building. It was renovated for offices ¢.1990. The address of
this building was 6 Bridge Street until about 1980.

2. Dow Block, 8-14 Dixon Avenue, 1883. Contributing building.

Set on a granite foundation, the Dow Block is a brick building which has a two-story facade facing
Loudon Road with three full stories at the rear. The structure actually consists of two connected
buildings, flat-roofed to the east with a 2 1/2-story side-gabled building abutting to the west. The
facade of the castern portion measures seven bays across, the central three bays are capped by a
low gable parapct, the flanking sections are framed by end posts which extend slightly above the
flat roof. The scgmental openings contain metal replacement 6/6 sash with granite sills. The upper
story facade windows are linked by an ormamental course of brick set on edge. The north facade of
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tiie western section mcasures five-bays wide. As on the adjacent building, most of the windows
have been replaced by modern 6/6 sash. The former door openings now contain modem glazed
doors. There are three loading doors on the east elevation, capped by granite lintels. These would
have originally faced the train tracks.

Like 1ts ncighbor tc the west (see 6 Dixon Ave., building #1), this building was constructed in 1883
by Samuel Harris Dow of Warncr who was credited with converting this section of Bridge Street
from a tumblc-down locality into a busy, bustling, thriving community, replacing wooden hovels
with fine brick edifices. The building was constructed by masons Richardson & Farmer with
carpentry work by Lorenzo Dow under the direction of Charles Piper.

In January 1884 the wholesale grocery firm of Woodworth, Dow, & Co. (Albert B. Woodworth,
Samucl H. Dow and Edward B. Woodworth) moved into their new building. The three-story
building included a spacious attic for the storage of grain. The first floor had direct access to the
railroad for ease of loading goods. The second floor, on level with Bridge Street, contained the
office and lighter groceries while the upper floors were used for storage. The building also
included a grist mill,

By 1887 the building was occupied by the wholesale grocery business of Dickerman Leavitt & Co.
and Woodworth & Co. had moved to Hills Avenue. The store was renamed Dickerman & Co. in
1888, with the partners being G.0O. Dickerman and Samuel H. Dow. The business remained in this
location until the 1940s. The Star Martin Gage Co. and Penn-Hampshire Oil Co. occupied the
building from the early 1950s into the 1970s. The building was renovated for office use in the
1990s.

3. Stickney North Block, 148-158 North Main Street, by 1860. Contributing building.

This building was long known as the North Stickney Block to differentiate it from the South
Stickney Block at 132-146 North Main Street and another block erccted by Joseph Stickney north
of Bridge Street (no longer extant). Omament on the five-story brick block is largely limited to a
simple brick corbelled cornice with a plain brick parapet above. The North Main Street facade
measures ten bays wide. All of the original windows have been replaced by modern 1/1 sash and
have granite lintels and smaller granite sills. The windows on the top floor are slightly smaller.
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The first floor was originally compriscd of storefronts formed by granite posts and lintels and
supplemented by cast iron columns but the entire first floor has been replaced by a brick wall
punctuated by plate glass windows and metal-and-glass doors.

The cxact date of construction of this building is not known Joscph Stickney had constructed a
block on this site before 1860 although whether this is the present block is not knewn. Anr article
on Concord merchants c. 1860 appearing in the Granite Monthly in 1910 notad that Stickney’s
North Block then was occupied by David Symonds, trunk and hamess maker and Jeel D. Johnson,
hamesscs, with Elliott Hill’s furniture store located upstairs. In 1886 the building was raiscd in
height from four to five stories. The single-story, 17 x 80 foot addition contained eighteen
tenements. The building was damaged by a fire in 1910 which developed in the blind attic. The
newspaper account indicates that the first floor businesses then consisted of the Spiller picture
establishment; Ralph E. Danforth, candy and fancy goods; M.W. Morgan, plumber and stecam
fitter; and C.E. Dame, grocer. The upper floors were divided into tenements. In the late 19th
century the northern storefront, #158, was occupied by grocer H'W. Brickett. The First National
grocery store occupied the comer storc from about 1930 into the 1950s. The storcfront at 148 N.
Main was occupicd by a barber shop from the late 19th century into thc mid 20th with a shoc
repair shop at #150 in the early 20th century.

After the death of Joseph P. Stickney, the ownership of this building and the adjacent block to the
south, passed to his son Joseph Stickncy. Bom in Concord in 1840, the younger Stickney worked
for the Northern Railroad at Lebanon and later left the state in favor of coal mining at Wilkesbarre,
Pennsylvania. Stickney eventually opened a coal dealing house in New York City and at the time
of his death in 1903 was a multi-millionaire with a residence at 874 Fifth Avenue in New York
City. The Concord properties were inherited by his widow Carolyn Foster Stickney and later
passed to Elcanor Stickncy Chapman of Lake Forest, Illinois who sold the buildings in 1940.

4. Stickney’s Block, 132 1/2-146 North Main Street, 1860/alt. c.1890. Contributing building.

This four-story brick block was originally constructed in 1860 but assumed its present appearance
after alterations in 1894 removed the original mastic front and much of the original Italianate-style
detailing, replacing it with a new, simpler veneer of pressed brick. The building is now capped by
a flat roof with its comice detail reduced to a corbel brick course and a series of recessed
horizontal brick panels outlined by a border of molded bricks. Markings on the brick correspond
to the original metal bracketed comice.
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The upper floors of the building racasure sixtcen bays across with an additional single bay 1 the
reeessed section on the south end of tise building.  As originally constructed the facade was divided
by guoins into !wo scctions of seven windows flanking a central bay containing a larger, moi2
clacorate window opening. In the late 19th century, the quoins werc removed and the central bay
was divided into two window openings. The upstairs windows are notable for retaining their
original distinctive window sash . The shapes of the openings are different on every floor with
semicircular arched openings with arched inullions o the second floor, scgmental openings
containing 4/4 sash on the third and pointed openings with 4/4 sash on the fourth. The varying
windows were originally emphasized by heavy lintels which echoced the shape of the window. Now
all of the windows arc capped by decorative brickwork and tiles with diamond patterns and arc
capped by uniform rectangular granite lintcls. There are horizontal bands of decorative brickwork
at the top and bottom of cach window. The ¢.1890 brickwork includes recessed bricks set on edge,
a dentil-like coursc at the top and soldier brick set on edge at the level of the sills.

Most of the first floor storefronts were completely remodeled ¢. 1960 with brick, metal and glass
storcfronts. Prcscrved at the south end of the block is an arcade of four arches supported by cast
iron posts, the only surviving elements of the storefronts which were part of the original 1860
design. The recessed center entrance contains an early 20th century glass-and-wood door.

In 1860 Joscph P. Stickney built this brick block between his north block and the block north of the
Eagle Hotel. The new block included a large hall, known as Eagle Hall which occupied the third
and fourth floors of the block. An additional newspaper article reported on October 21, 1863 that
N. White was complecting one of the largest halls in the city in Stickney’s new block, opposite the
American House. The hall was dedicated on November 10, 1863 with an aftemoon address by
abolitionist William Lloyd Garrison. The Concord Board of Trade was organized at Angelo’s
Hall, a small hall in the Stickney Block on December 19, 1871. The stage and frescoing of the hall
was described in an article published in the Monitor on October 18, 1872. The block also
containcd another hall known as Tahanto Hall. In 1886 the former Eagle Hall was converted into
twclve tencments of 2-6 rooms. In 1894, the mastic front on the building was replaced by a facade
of pressed brick. Italianatc style features including quoining, a heavy bracketed comice with
central arched parapet and heavy hood molds were removed. Similar improvements were made at
about thc same time on the Masonic Temple block, the Phenix Hall Block and the Hill Buildings,
an indication that the heavy omament of the Italianate stylc was no longer in fashion.

In 1879 the first floor storefronts contained a jewelry store, a boot and shoe store, a millinery storc,
a tinware shop and a tobacconist. G.W. Wadleigh sold millinery and hair goods (wigs) at 140 N.
Main until the turn-of-the-century. Frank Gceorge was selling stoves at 142 N. Main Street in
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1890. Charles F. Thompson had a shoc store at 134 North Main for many years. [.G. Fletcher
opcned a shoc store at 138 N Main Street in 1897 and remained here until 1902, In 1914 a shoc
store, militnery shop. clothing shop and photography studic accupied the first floor. [n 1932 the
occupants of the storefronts included the Haverhill Shoe Store (134 N. Main), the Elizabeth
Milinery Shop (138 N. Main) and Capital Fumiture (140 N. Main} The upstairs apariments
were known in the 1950s and 60s as the Kenilwerth Apartmiciits.

5. Stickney’s Old Block, 120-132 North Main Street, 1651. Contributing building.

Coustructed in 1831, :his block presently constitutes approximately two-thirds of the original
building, which previously extended an additional six bays to the south terminating in a rounded
corner adjacent to the Eagle Hotel. The three-story brick block has a rounded northwest corner
and now measurcs eleven bays wide. (The south end of the building was removed in 1885 for the
construction of thc New Hampshire Savings Bank at 116-118 North Main Street, building #6.)

The first floor level retains granite posts and lintels with the space between them filled with modem
plate glass windows. The upper stories including the curved northern bay which is set into a slight
recess, contain modern 6/6 replacement windows. All of the windows are capped by granite lintels
with smaller granite sills. The third floor openings appcar to be slightly smaller. The building is
capped by a wide brick fricze with a brick dentil course under the projecting metal comice which is
embellished by sets of three brackets.

This block was constructed in 1851 for Joscph Stickney to replace an earlier brick block which
was destroyed in the Eagle Hotel fire on August 25, 1851. A newspaper article on December 17,
1851 reported that the new block was nearly done. The August fire swept away all the buildings
on the cast sidc of Main Street from the Stickncy Block south to the Rumford Block and east to the
railroad. A local resident writing in 1891 indicated that the Stickncy Block was one of only four
blocks on the cast side of Main Strect that was standing as early as 18353 (the others according to
the article were the Eagle Hotel, the Exchange Block and the Rumford Block although the latter
was built after a fire in 1868).

The Monitor reported in 1871 that the old Stickney Block in front of the State House yard was sold
at auction. The north store, occupied by James Moore & Sons was sold to Pitman Brothers; the
second store south occupied by J.P. Johnson was sold to Joseph S. Lund; the third store which was
occupied by William B. Steams was sold to Nathaniel White and the fourth store south occupied
by John Brown was also sold to Nathanicl Whitc. On January 14, 1882 the Monitor reported a
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fire in *Stickney’s Old Block™ damaged portions of the block owned by Janies Moore & Sons and
the heirs of Nathanicl White.

The New Hampshire Savings Bank moved into rooms in the block in 1868 and in 1885 the south
end of the block was demolished to nake way for the bank’s new building, the present 116-118 N.
Main Strect (#6). A furniture store was located in Stickney’s Block carly as 1879 (H.H. Aldrich)
and continued to occupy all three floors into the early 20th century. The northern storefront
containcd a hardware storc in the 1870s and 1880s operated by James Moore & Sons but by 1889
the space was occupied by a drug store operated by W.P. Underhill and L.H. Piper (W.P.
Underhill & Co.). Hancock Drug was located here into the 1950s.

6. New Hampshire Savings Bank (Sheraton Building), 116-118 North Main Street, 1885-6.
Contributing building.

Constructed in 1885, the former New Hampshire Savings Bank (Sheraton Building) is a four-story
brick block with Longmeadow sandstone and terra cotta trimmings. The symmetrical facade is
organized into three bays by brick strips which extend the height of the building. The center bay
contains a single opening while there are two windows in each of the flanking bays on the second
and third floors and three windows to each side of the central bay on the fourth floor. Decorative
details include sandstone bands at the top and bottom of each row of windows. Areas of paneled
brick are located between the second and third floor with terra cotta foliate tiles between the third
and forth floors. The central first floor entrance is emphasized by a polychromatic gable
alternating sandstone and brick with diaper patterning filling the top of the gable which is capped
by a sandstone knob. Echoing the gable shape are smaller peaked sandstone ornaments with
rosettes on the pilasters at the second floor level. The building is capped by a corbelled cornice
with a brick pancled parapet above. Centered above the middle bay is a sandstone panel reading
1830-1885; the first date corresponds to the founding of the bank while the second reflects the
construction of this building. A series of tall brick chimneys rise from the roof. As originally
constructed, prior to the construction in the 1990s of the adjacent connector linking the former
bank building and the Eagle Hotcl, the south elevation was exposed and was dominated by a three-
story bay window.

The modern connector added in the 1990s is four stories in height with 1/1 windows. It has a
gabled top with a multi-pane diamond-shaped window at the top, capped by a metal knob. The
arched opening on the first floor is faced with granite.
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The bank building’s origina! first floor storcfronts have been replaced by inodem storefronts with
sinoked glass and anodized metal frames. All of the original windows have been replaced with
modem 1/1 sash although historic photographis indicate that the original sash was ina 1/1
configuration,

The New Hampshire Savings Bank was constructed in 1883, on the site of an older building which
was part of the Stickney Block. The building was designed by Worcester architect, Amos P.
Cutting (d.1896) who also designed the State Library on Park Street. As originally constructed the
south half of the first floor contained the banking rooms while the northem storefront was leased to
a store. The upper stories were divided into eleven apartments; three on the second floor and four
on the two upper stories. Each of the apartments contained a parlor, a bedroom and bathroom.

The north storcfront was occupicd for many years by Edson C. Eastman, stationer and bookseller,
who movcd in soon after the building was constructed. Eastman began his business in 1853. He
published all the law books of New Hampshire for many years and also Leavitt’s F armers’
Almanac. An illustration of Eastman’s storefront appears in the May-June 1915 issue of the
Granite Monthly. The Edson C. Eastman Co. was still located here in the 1930s. The space was
later occupiced by a restaurant and by Western Union. After the bank vacated the space, the
southemn storcfront was occupied for many years by a clothing store and in the 1950°s and 60’s by
City Clcaners and Dyers.

The New Hampshire Savings Bank was founded in 1830, the fourth savings bank cstablished in the
State of New Hampshire and the third bank in the City of Concord. The bank was initially located
in the Merrimack County Bank Building at 212 North Main Street. In 1868 the bank moved into
rooms in Stickney’s South Block, across from the State House and adjacent to the Eagle Hotel.
This building was demolished in 1883 to make way for the present 116 North Main Street. The
bank opened for business in its ncw building on May 9, 1887. The bank remained here for forty
years, moving across the strect to a new building at 97 North Main Street (#88) in 1927. In 1925
the building at 116 North Main Strect was sold to Margarct Cashman (later Margaret Cashman
Irwin). It was sold by her cstate in 1961.

7. Eagle Hotel, 110 North Main Street, 1851-2/1890. Contributing building.

The Eagle Hotel is a five-story brick building which has maintained a prominent location across
from the State House since 1831. Major portions of the present structure datc back to 1851
although the building was enlarged in 1872 and underwent extensive renovations in 1890 including
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the reimoval of the gable reof, the construction of a flat roofed, fifth floor, and the addition of a
decorative brick cornice and parapet.

The first floor storefronts rctain many of their original cast iron supports as well as the granite
lintcl. The main entrance to the hotel comprising the central four bays was altered in the 20th
century by the addition of four brick archies with granite springblocks, keystones and spandrel
mcdallions. The upper floors of the facade measure twelve bays across. The second. third and
fourth floors arc punctuated by a uniform distribution of 2/2 windows with simple grantte sills and
lintels. The fifth story windows, dating to 1890, consist of two narrower and smaller 1/1 sashes
which arc aligned with the larger, single sashes below and bordered on the top and bottom by
continuous stone belt courses. A decorative brick cornice caps all but the central four bays which
are capped by arches and a low parapet with the name of the hotel in granite, decorative brick
pancling and two knobbed end posts with base brackets. The knobs are repeated on the ends of
the building.

The Eagle Hotcl has been an important downtown landmark for nearly 150 years. The Eagle Hotel
was constructcd in 18351 on the site of the Eagle Coffee House, built in 1827, enlarged in 1832 and
destroyed by fire in August 1851. A side-gable roof with dormers was added after 1853. The
Eagle Hotel was cnlarged and renovated by owner Nathaniel White in 1872, In 1890 more
extensive altcrations were made to the building according to designs by Worcester architect Amos
Cutting who also designed the New Hampshire Savings Bank at 116-118 North Main Street (#6) in
1883-6 and the New Hampshire State Library on Park Street in 1891.

An article on Concord merchants c. 1860 appearing in the Granite Monthly in 1910 noted that the
occupants of the Eagle Hotel Building included Edmunds & Robinson, merchant tailors; J.Carter
& Son, jewelers; Mr. Chase, telegraph office; Mr. Talbot, barber and Munroe and Morrill,
confectioners. In the early 20th century, W.C. Gibson’s book storc (owned until 1898 by Charles
F. Batchelder) was located in the Eagle Hotel Block. Gibson’s remained here into the 1950s.

The Eagle Hotel hosted many prominent guests during its history including Presidents Ulysses S.
Grant, Rutherford B. Hayes and Benjamin Harrison; Franklin Pierce the night before departing for
his presidential inauguration, Charles Lindbergh, Eleanor Roosevelt, Richard Nixon and Thomas
Dewey. The hotel was also an important gathering place for politicians, legislators and lobbyists.
The Eagle Hotel ceased operations as a hotel in 1961, it was used as a rest home until 1976.

The building was individually listed on the National Register on September 20, 1978.
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The building was rehabilitated in 1983 according to designs by Hammer Kicfer & Todd, Inc. of
Cambridge, Massachusctts as part of the redevelopment of Eagle Square.

8. Merchants Exchange Block, 94-102 North Main Strect, 1851, Contributing building.

Constructed in 1851, the present Merchants Exchange Block constitutes just over half of the
original building, which extended an additional six bays to the south and abutting the Merchants
Block at 84-92 North Main Strect (#13). The four-story brick block has a rounded northwest
comer and now measurcs seven bays wide. The window openings are all of equal dimension,
excepting the slightly-wider southern bay which originally corresponded to the center of the facade.
The windows contain replacement sash and have plain granite sills and lintels. The building is
capped by a projecting metal cornice. Historic renderings suggest that the building was originally
capped by a gable roof with dormers and a stepped parapet end. It is not known when this was
replaced by the present flat roof. The south end of the building is stuccoed with large areas of
glass set in bronze pancls. The narrow connector between the Merchants Exchange Block and the
Eagle Block to the north also has bronze pancls with single pane windows.

The first floor was originally constructed using a trabeated system of granite posts and lintels
which provided ample area for large display windows. The present storefronts are a ¢.1980 design
displaying large window areas with transoms and pancled bulkheads.

The present Merchants Exchange building was constructed in 1852, shortly after a fire on August
25, 1851 dcestroyed the previous building on the site, which had just recently been completed. The
fire swept away all the buildings on the east side of Main Street from the Stickney Block (#5) south
to the Rumford Block (#15) and east to the railroad. The building completed in 1851 measured 84
feet wide and 85 feet deep and had a slate roof and was designed by architect William Brown. It is
not known whether the 1852 building was rebuilt according to the same design. A local resident
writing in 1891 indicated that the Exchange Block was one of only four blocks on the east side of
Main Street that was standing in 1853 (the others according to the article were the Eagle Hotel, the
Stickney Block and the Rumford Block although the latter was built after a fire in 1868).

An article on Concord merchants c.1860 appearing in the Granite Monthly in 1910 noted that the
occupants of the Exchange Block included Clark & Currier, dry goods; H.A. Fay, carpetings; John
A. Gault, druggist and Warde & Walker, hardware. An undated drawing of the building indicates
that the first floor of the Exchange Block held the stores of Porter, Rolfe & Brown, stoves and
hardware; Allison & Gault, drugs; Dustin & Shaw, clothing and James Peverly & Co., dry goods.
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The second floor was utilized by the Mechanics Banks, the Beston, Concord and Montreal
Railroad and §. Prescoit & Brothers, organs. The third floor tenant was N. Kimball,
dagucrrcotype artist. The 187 Sanborn Insurance map indicates that the upper floors of the north
end of the block functioned as an extension of the Eagie Hotel.

The northemn part of the building was occupied by a large hardwaic store in the laie 19th century,
the successors to Porter, Rolfe & Brewn were known by various nanies including Wardc,
Humphrey, & Dodge and iater Humphrey, Dodge & Smith ard Humphrey, Dedge & Co. This
space was later occupied by Exchange Auto Accessories and Eagle Fruit Co. in the 1930s and by
Mohican Co. grocers in 1950. H.G. Fletcher had a ladies’ furnishings and millinery store at 96
North Main Street beginning in 1902; the space was formerly occupicd by the W.J. Ahern Clothing
Store. In the carly 20th century a photography studio was located on the sccond floor. The
A.OH Hazll was located at 98 North Main Street beginning about 1919 and continuing into the
1940s.

Abraham Prescott is credited with introducing the inusical instrument business to Concord.
Numerous othcr shops were subscquently established, making Concord a noted center of musical
instrument manufacture during the late 19th century. Abraham Prescott opened a shop and music
store in the 1830s on Main Street where he made string bases and reed organs. After Abraham’s
death in 1858 the company was continued by his sons under various names including Prescott
Brothers, the Prescott Organ Co. (after 1871) and Prescott Piano and Organ Co. (after 1887). The
company had a factory at 71 South Main Street. In 1885 the company made its first piano and
soon thereafter the manufacture of organs was discontinued. The manufacture of pianos ended in
1912 and the company went bankrupt in 1917.

9. Eagle Stable, 7 Eagle Square, 1882. Contributing building.

Located behind the Eagle Hotel (#7), the Eagle Stable is a three-story brick building which is
roughly L-shaped in plan, with a small two-story projecting emerging from the top of the “L”.
Adjacent to the Stone Warehouse (#10), the two-story facade of the stable faces west and measures
threc-bays across. The central set of double doors have recessed panels filled with diagonal
beadboard. The 6/6 windows are capped by rows of header brick for lintels with stone sills.

Above the granite date of construction is a simple corbelled brick cornice. To the north, the
remainder of the west elevation is fronted by a large ¢.1990 greenhouse addition. The rear (east)
elevation of the building, facing Storrs Street, measures twelve bays wide on the upper two floors
with thirty-two small 1/1 windows with stone sills below. There are nine 6/6 windows on the lower
level, as well as three sets of doors.
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The Eagle Stable was constructed in 1282 on a sitc behind the Eagic Hotcl. An advertisement was
placced in the Monitor on March 13, 1882 by architccts Dow and Wheeler, sceking proposals to
build a stable at the rear of the Eagle Hotel. The front portion of the building housed coachmen
and attendants of hotel guests while the rear scction itially sheltered hoses, carriages and wagons,
and later automobilcs.

In 1983 the arca bchind the Eagle Hotel was transfonmed into Eaglc Square as part of a major
revitalization project which opened the arca up to Main Strect. The architectural firm of Hammer,
Kiefer & Todd, Inc. of Cambridge, Massachusetts was responsible for renovations to the Eagle
Hotel, Stablc and Eagle Square Marketplace. In the early 1990s this building was purchased by
the New Hampshire Historical Society and now houses their administrative offices.

10. Stone Warehouse, 6 Eagle Square, 1870. Contributing building.

Sctback behind the east side of Main Street, the Stone Warehouse is a massive but simple stone
building constructed of rough Concord granite punctuated by Roman-arched windows. The
building presents a western elevation two stories in height and five bays wide facing Eagle Square.
Capped by rough voussoirs, the arched openings contain 4 x 3-light windows with semi-circular
transoms filled with five vertical panes. Sheltered by an arched canopy the main entrance is
located in the northernmost bay on the west side. The north elevation is six bays wide and 1s
fronted by a ramp. The building is capped by a green slate monitor roof which was added in the
1890s. The roof is punctuated by twelve bays of 6/6 windows on the west side. A green metal,
octagonal tower emerges from the south end of the roof.

This stone structure was erected by prominent Concord merchant, David Andrew Warde (1828-
1874) in 1870. Warde’s family name and the date of construction are carved into a granite
keystone over the main entrance. A brief mention in the Concord Daily Patriot of August 17,
1869 notcd that hardware merchants Warde, Humphrey and Dodge, whose retail store was located
in the Mcrchant’s Exchange Building at 94-102 North Main Street (#8), were laying the foundation
of a new building adjacent to the railroad line. The ncw building, measuring 100 x 60, was
intended to be used as a factory for making Palmer springs used in buggies and carriages and as a
storchouse (the spring factory never moved into the building). No stranger to losses by fire, Warde
made the building as fire resistant as possible, with masonry exterior walls and slow-burning
construction inside including heavy timbers and thick, closely laid flooring. Ironically, the interior
of the new stone structure was gutted by fire on November 30, 1870, before it was even completed.
Evidence of the fire is reportedly still visible in the building’s stonework today. The interior of the
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building was rcbuilt and iron window shutters were installed on at Icast two sidcs of the building
for additional fire protection.

The building was initially used as a storchouse for agricultural implements. After Warde’s dcath
in 1874, the hardware business was known as Humphrey and Dodge. In 1879 the warehouse was
being uscd to store bedsteads in the basement, agricuitural implements on the first floor and
carriages above. In 1890 Martha Warde sold the stone warehouse to Nathan Stevens, a machinist
who had a shop at the rear of Main Strect, near the Eagie Hotel. Humphrey and Dodge appear to
have continued to rent the stone building and the fourth story, sheathed in slate, was added in the
1890s. In 1911 the warehouse was sold to Walter L. Jenks, successor to Humphrey and Dodge.
The building was sold to the Concord Belting Company the same year and the building ceased its
use as a hardware warehouse.

In 1920 the building was sold by Page Belting to the New Industries Corporation, and for the next
thirty years the building was used as a clothing factory. A series of clothing manufacturers and/or
wholesale tailors occupiced the building including the Leopold Morse Co.; the New England
Wholesale Tailors; Singer, Snow and Paparella; and New England Outfitters Co. During the
1950s and 60s the building was uscd for storage. A legislative parking garage was constructed
adjacent to the building in the 1970s and in the 1980s the building was renovated for use as a
restaurant, as part of the revitalization of Eagle Square. In the early 1990s the New Hampshire
Histoncal Socicty purchased and renovated the warehouse for a new museum and storage. The
museum opened in 1995.

11. Building, S Eagle Square, ¢.1870. Contributing building.

This simple, utilitarian brick building has seen numerous additions and deletions since its
construction in the late 19th century. The oldest surviving part of the building is the two-story
section to the south which has a west-facing gablefront that is three bays wide. The wide loading
door has been fitted with a modem glass door and part of a ¢.1920 steel door. The original loft
door is still visible on the second floor and the remainder of the windows are primarily 6/6 sash
with arched brick lintels and stone sills.

Single-story, ¢.1960 brick additions are located to the north and south. The early 20th century
single-story section at the north end displays dan uneven stepped parapet above a wall which is now
punctuated by continuous single-pane windows. A later concrete block addition is visible on the
east side.
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The carlicst porticn cf this building was constructed ¢.1870. In 1879 a plumber was using the
building and in 1889 it was occupied by a woodworker and a sign painter. A scction to the north,
containing a painting shop and machinc shop was in place by 1899. In the carly 2Cth century the
building was being used as the Gas Company repair shop and was located just west of the
gasometer.

During the course of redeveloping Eagle Square in the 1980s part of the northern section of the
building was removed, leaving what survives tcday. The building now houses a sandwich shop.

12. Eagle Square, 1983. Noncontributing site (due to age).

in 1983 the arca behind the Eagle Hotel was transformed into Eagle Square as part of a major
revitalization project which opencd the area to Main Street. The pedestrian plaza is paved with
brick and includes a concrete stepped amphitheater to the west of the Stone Warehouse with a
fountain which cascades down rubble stone walls.

The concept for Eagle Square was largely developed by Duncan S. McGowan, local architect,
planner and civic dreamer. The Square was rededicated in honor of McGowan following his death
in 1992,

12A. Sculptural Iron Gate, 1983. Noncontributing object (due to age).

This steel tree, twenty-eight fect high and supporting a 40-foot wide entablature above a granite
base, was inserted at the entrance to Eagle Square in 1983. The sculpture takes the place of two
storefronts that were removed to make way for the public plaza. Local officials required that the
sculpture connect the two buildings and leave room for a fire engine to pass undeneath. The
sculpture was designed by Dimitri Gerakiris of Canaan, New Hampshire who studied at
Dartmouth College.
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12B. Clock Shelter, 1998. Noncontrivuting structure (duc to age).

Set on the sidewalk in front of the entrance to Eagle Square, the Concord Clock is contained in a
quoined brick shelter with glass walls designed to allow passersby' to view the imerworkings of the
clock. The hip roof is sheathed in copper and topped by a knab.

The clock was originally located in the tower at the Board of Trade Bailding at the comer of
Scheol and North Main Streets. it was manufactured by E. Howard Co. of Boston and was
purchascd in 1872 through public subscription. The cast iron bell was madc in Shefficld, Engiand
and strikes hourly in the key of “G”. The bell was given to the City by George Pillsbury in 1873.
Afier years of ncglect, it was restored by the New Hampshire Historical Society in 1998 and
installed in a new brick shelter designed by Duane Cowen.

13. Merchants Block, 84-92 North Main Street, 1878. Contributing building.

Constructed in 1869-1870, the Merchants Block is a threc-story brick building constructed in an
[talianate style but altered considerably in the 20th century and no longer in single ownership. The
wide, thirteen-bay facade is organized into five sections by six quoined pilasters that extend the
height of the upper two stories. The central bay contains a single window on each of the two upper
floors, segmentally arched on the fourth floor and rectangular below and containing multi-light
sash. The windows on the seccond floor originally consisted of round-arched openings with heavy
hood molds but were replaced in the carly 20th century by sets of three 1/1 windows with
continuous entablature lintels. The third story openings arc segmentally-arched with 2/2 windows
and brick hood molds with central keystones. Between the quoined strips, the cornice is
embellished by triangular brick corbels, a wide plain band under a dentil course and bold
modillions of wood.

Historic photographs indicate that the first floor originally consisted of a continuous arcade of
semi-elliptical arches supported by cast iron columns. Today, only the central arch, leading
upstairs, survives. The arch is embellished by raised roping with a central keystone. The
aluminum and glass double doors are capped by a semi-clliptical glass transom. The storefronts
reflect varying periods of alteration. The two storefronts to the south each have central entrances
with aluminum-and-glass doors flanked by display windows set into aluminum frames above
polished black granite bulkheads. The storefront to #90 has an angled front glass window with a
varnished oak pancl door and polished granite bulkhead. The northernmost storefront dates to
¢.1960 and is stuccoed with a hanging light, suspended display window and angled slate wall.
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To the north of the building is the gateway to Eagle Square. The north wall of the building is
stuccoed and buttressed and incorporates artifacts from historic Concord buildings. At the rear is
a two-story, greenhouse addition.

The Mcrchants Block was constructed in 1870 on the site of the old Central Buildings destroyed by
tirc in August of 1869. This appears to be the samc vacant lot that was owned by Col. Grover in
1869 and lcascd to the Prescott Brothers, W.G. Shaw, G.A. Pillsbun and George Noyes for
twenty-five years with a block to be built on the sitc in 1870. In the 1870s occupants of the
building included the Eagle Bookstore; J.T. Slecper, merchant tailor; the Prescott Organ Co., and
Robinson & Tilton, picturc frames and mirrors. The storefront at 84 North Main Street was
occupicd by John McQuilkin, clothicr and hattcr in the late 19th century. The space at 86 North
Main Strect was occupied by a Frank Mace’s book store with a tailor next door. F.A. Piper’s
ptano store was located in the northernmost storefront in the 1890s. The upper floors during this
period containced offices, a tailor shop, band room and lodgings. In the late 19th century the
Prescott Organ Company occupied the northern end of the second floor as well as space in the
adjacent Merchants Exchange Block.

In the 20th century long term occupants of the block included the W.T. Grant Co. from the 1930s
into the 1960s and the Concord Gas Company from ¢.1920 into the 1960s. A circular gasholder
was located bchind the building in the late 19th century and early 20th century.

14. Commercial Block, 82 North Main Street, ¢.1853 or ¢.1868. Contributing building.

This three-story, mid 19th century brick block was altered in 1955-6 as part of the renovations
made to the adjacent property at 76 North Main Street for the S.S. Kresge Company. The narrow
building is just two-bays wide, framed by brick quoins and capped by a heavy bracketed cornice
with incised holes undemeath and between the brackets. The first storefront is faced with tile
pancls that are set in aluminum frames and extending below the display windows as well. The
second floor of the building is punctuated by a three-part window consisting of a large plate glass
window flanked by modemn 1/1 sash. This modem window replaces two original round-arched
windows. The third floor windows contain modem 1/1 sash set in segmentally arched openings
with heavy, mctal hoods embellished by endblocks and keystones that are quite similar if not
identical to those on the Cyrus Hill Block at 64-68 North Main Strect (#17).
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According to an item in the Perry scrapbooks at the New Hampshire Historical Society, this block
(Merchant's Block) was constructed in 1853 alihough this could not be verified. Stylistic evidence
coupled with the knowledge that the adjacent buildings were constructed in 1868 suggests that this
butlding may also date to the latc 1860s. A narrow block (unlabzied) is shown cn this site at the
time ot the 1868 map. The 1874 Sanbom map indicates that a fancy goods store was located herc
at that fime. On the 1879 map thc building was said to contain a tailor, offices and lodgings. The
tailor remamed here until at least the tum-of-the-century.

S.S. Kresge took over the storefront prior to 1932. On October 8, 1956 the S.S. Kresge Company
opened their modem store with new storefront.

15. Rumford Block, 76-80 North Main Street, ¢.1868/1955. Noncontributing building (due to
alteration).

Reduccd in height from four to two stories in 1953, this painted brick building has lost virtually all
of its 19th century integrity. The first floor is divided into three stores with offcenter entrances that
are rccessed slightly. The storcfronts display tile panels that are set in aluminum frames and
extending below the display windows as well. The second floor of the building is punctuated by
two large, three-part windows consisting of large plate glass windows flanked by modern 1/1 sash.
Topping the flat-roofed building is a plain frieze and dentil course with a wide band of unadomed
brick above.

This two-story building stands on the site of the Low’s Block which was destroyed by fire in 1868.
This was replaced by the Rumford Block, a four-story brick block. Members of the Low family
owned the property from the mid 19th century until 1922 when it was sold to Abraham T. Cohn.

From the latc 1880s and into the early 20th century David Murphy’s dry goods establishment was
located here. By 1932 the space was occupied by the S.S. Kresge Co. In 1955 the two upper
floors were removed and the remainder of the building was dramatically altered. On October 8,
1956 the S.S. Kresge Company opencd their modem store here. The Kresge Company sold the
property in 1965 and it was then owned and occupied by Fletcher’s Milford Paint Works. The
building was later divided into threce separate storefronts.
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16. Woodward's Block, 70-74 Nerth Main Street, ¢.1870. Contributing building.

Historicaliy known as Woodward’'s Block. 70-74 North Main Sireet actually consists of two
adjaccat three-story trick buildings with stoae trim, displaying compiementary Italianate styvle
detailing. The building to the south is the more narrow of the two while the northern building is
slightly tallcr and four-bays wide. The original cast iron storefronts are no longer extant.

The southem building 1s outlined by brick quoins above the first floor level which has a ¢.1940
storcfront with a rccessed central entrance, aluminum framed display windows set above reccssed
bulkhcads and concrete trim. A large, internally-lit sign band may obscure additional original
featurcs. The second and third stories of this building have modern 1/1 replacement windows
capped by rock-faced horseshoe lintels with central keystones. The third floor windows have stone
sills which rest on a projecting stone band betwecen the second and third stories. There is
decorative brick work above the third story windows and recessed horizontal brick pancls under the
bracketed comice. The windows on the south side iack decorative lintels and include a projecting
bayv window on the second floor. Diamond tie rods are also visible.

The adjacent building to the north has a ¢.1960 recessed storefront with large plate glass, angled
windows outlined by aluminum frames above polished granite bulkheads with a set of multi-light
and wood double doors at the center. Above the first floor there is a brick band decorated by
corbels and dentils. The second and third story windows contain modern replacement 1/1 sash set
into segmental recesses and capped by a continuous stone lintel. Each of the lintels is constructed
of five separate stones including a central keystone and end blocks. The lintels are connected by
stonc bands with incised trefoils. The building 1s outlined by a line of quoins on the north wall and
an ornate cornice which contrasts red and black brick, some of which are set on edge, under two
bands of brackets.

The exact date of construction of this building is not exactly known although it appears to
incorporate an earlicr structurc. The 1868 map shows a building on the site which is labcled as
Dow’ or Low’s Block. In August 1869 F. Low began construction of a new, three-story store on
Main Strect on the site of James Hazelton’s store which had recently been destroyed by fire. The
1874 Sanbom map also includes a building which appears to be of the same general dimensions as
the present building. An article appcaring in the Monitor on April 5, 1877 sheds some light on the
question and indicates that Mr. Woodward had rebuilt the north half of his block. The article notes
that “a comparison of this clegant block with the onc which preceded it, and which was regarded as
a modcl block at onc time, shows one phasc of the progress which has been made in this city within
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a quarter of a century”. Wocdward’s Block is first listed by name in the list of public buildings in
the 1878 city dircciory (it was not listed in the 1876 directory).

n April 1877 Wecodward & White opencd their clegant new clothing store in Woodward’s Block.
The firm was composed of Charles W. Weodward, son of merchant tailor E.W. Woodward and
Harry W. White. The second storv of the block contained a suite of rcoms occupied by Dr. E.
Morrill and the law office of ex-Mayor L.D. Stevens. The third floor of the building was occupied
by the Webster Club Rooms. The club was organized on Scptember 26, 1868. The organization
was initially limited to thirty members but by 1877 had been expanded to fifty active members
although 106 had been connected with the club since its organization. The third floor suite
included a billiard, card, library and music rooms as well as a large hall.

The 1879 Sanborn map shows that the corner store sold crockery and carpets while the storefront
to the north contained a tailor, hats and furnishing goods. At the turn-of-the-century, a boot and
shoe store occupied the northern storefront. By the early 20th century a dry goods store occupied
the entire storefront of both buildings. The upper floors contained a combination of offices and
club/lodge rooms. Architect Edward Dow had an office in this building from 1881 until his death
in 1894. The rooms formerly occupicd by the Webster Club were taken over by the G.A.R. in the
early 20th century.

By 1932 the first floor tenants included the Trask Radio and Electric Shop and Miller’s Ladies
Apparel Shop. Among the upstairs tenants were architect George W. Griffin and the top floor
served as the GAR Hall. The Firestone Store was here by 1950 and in 1960 contained the Kinney
shoe store. By 1960 the building was referred to as the Reische Block. Radio Shack moved into
70 North Main Street before 1970 and is still there today. The other storefront was occupied by
the Bell Shops, women’s clothing, for many years.

17. Cyrus Hill Block, 64-68 North Main Street, 1868. Contributing building.

The Cyrus Hill Block is 2 four-story brick block which still retains considerable Italianate style
detailing on its upper two stories. The facade is enlivened by a variety of decorative features
including brick belt courses between the storics, recessed square brick panels between the third and
fours stories, lintels and a corbelled brick comice.

The first floor of the building has recently been remodeled with a ¢.1990 wooden storefront which
evokes elements of a late 19th century storefront. It is ordered by cabled posts with chamfered
corners with segmentally arched windows capped by raised panels. In the early 20th century, the
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five arched sceond story windows were replaced by the present arrangement of a central 1/1
window with transom flanked on each side by a bowed three-part window. The three openings
sharc 2 common cntablature lintcl.

The upper two stories are arranged in a five-bay division (as was the second floor originaliy). The
third floor openings retain their original wooden 2/2 sash set into segmentally-arched recesses
capped by bold hood molds. The central opening on this floor contains a double 1/1 window. The
fourth floor of the facade is punctuated by bands of narrow, arched windows. The central pair of
windows is outlined by picrs which extend to the cornice with a sct of four on cach side, all capped
by continuous brick, arched lintels. The brick corbelling above cchoes the arrangement of the
windows. The building is topped b<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>